Evacuation and Resettlement Study,
June 3, 1943. DST.

SCHEDULE FOR INDIVIDUAL RESETTLERS

Date of interview _ Dec. 27, 1943 Interviewer o  ¥iluchi

1 Name Yuri Ikeda Taijima 2. Sex, M® 3. Married stat@S D W 0O
4, Present address _ 742 N, Dearborn St, Sept., 104%
5 Later addresses D%te p

1

6. Birthplace Glasgow. ontans 7. Birthdate April 15 1915
8. Alien or citlizen _ citizen 9. Nisel, Kibei or Issel "nisei
10. Addresses between Dec. 1, 1941 and evacuation

Ea; Pasadena, ual1;orn1a D%te 1084-41
b

(c)
(a)
(e

2)
11. Assembly Center

12. Relocation Center Date

13. Addresses between time of leaving Rekcc&ﬁré@-@e&ber and present |
(a) Yuji & Yuri Tajima, 6119 Kenwood Date _June 25, 1948 %
- =

E ! 208 B, Brie - aaan. o 1945

14, Persons living in household on Dec.l, 1941. Relationship to Re-  “_:FuJ

) _Kazuo Ikeda (pseudonym) settler_¥gther |
Yasukc Ikeds (oseudnnvm] o Mother

Yuri Ikeda Self

ATbert Tkeda Brother
Carol Tkeda ' n

Dorothy Ikedsd Sister
Donald Ikeda Brother

Otto Ikeds B

Teddy Ikeda . o
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(a
(b
(e
(d
(e
(L
(g
(h
(i
(J
(k
{3
(m

15. Persons living in household on evac, day Relatlionship to Re-

(If same as 14, enter symbol,e.g.l4(a).) settler
__E§EE_LQ_HﬁnZanﬂr_ﬂiih_adxanced_glxmL_
was interned
went to Texas on Mar, 20. 1042
d-1 went to Tulsre AQ '

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)




SCHEDULE FOR INDIVIDUAL RESETTLERS, page 2.

Occupa-
. 15. continued - Grade compl. |Educ.in |tion DeclRelig.
Age | Sex | M.S. |Birthplace |Amer.school Japan |1, 1941 |Affil,

M ) or = " 1
oo M 1 Japan Bux.College | H. S, clerig lnone abis

49] T M i College Christ.(teacher
28 F )i Glasgow 16th (studJ; Slgék Meth
"

22 Ji M 12th (whslle driver} "

2o M M A 17th (T.N.4 (Gr.stiu, re. agst leth.
2l 3 Havre l4th (Stu. ldomestie "

191 M > 2 13th (Efn. leleTk i
18l U " 19+h student 2

17 gl = R 11h ) "

e M N N N N N N N e S S Nt

10) W D e i L e e e T T
e HHEReur TR HO WO O P

IF Immediate family (parents, siblings, children or spouse)
were not included in household group in 15, because of differ-
ent residence or because deceased, give detalls regarding them)
Relationship |Resldence Age
to resettler |(if deceased |(1f dec. Sex | Mar,
write "dec." lage at death| = | Stat.

Brother Army=Texas 23 il S

1

continued =~

Grade compl.| Educ. Occupation
Birthplace Amer .school in Japan| Dec.1,1941 Religion
(for dec.last
occupation)

Glasgow, blont l4th U,S, Army Meth,

. What members of household and immediate famlily evacuated to-
gether to Z#ssembly- Center or Free Zone (glve symbols used
in 15 and 16).
Yuri. Mrs. Moriksws apnd two sons sand daughter went to Texas
with Henry Nagamatsu, Emily Uchivama and Yuji Tajima

18. Composition of nhousehold In Assembly Center or Free Zone (Glve
symbols from 15 and 16; if others, give sex, age, relationship)
Upon arrival: :




SCHEDULE FOR INDIVIDUAL RESETTLERS, page 3.

18, continued -
Just before departure to Assembly Center or Free Zone

19. Composition of household in Relocation Project (Give symbols;
if others, give sex, age, relationship).
Upon arrival:

Just before leaving Project:

20, Composition of household in Chicago at date of interview:
(Give symbols; if others, give details)

Relationship |Residence Age
Name to resottler |(if dececased|(if dec.
write "dec," |age at death

Yuri Self now

a
b

(
(
(
(
(
(
0

c
d
e
: 4
20. continued =
Occupation
Dec.1l, 1941
Grade completed (for dec.last
Birthplace Amerigan school occupation) Religion

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
21. Changes In composition of Household in Chicago: Note departures
by symbol and dates. Give details for new houscholds or entries:
Relation-  Residence Age
ship to (1f deceased|(if dec. Mar.
Date | Name resettler |write "dec."|age at death)| Sex |Stat.
(a)_ '
(b)
(c)
(a)
(e)
(f)




SCHEDULE FOR INDIVIDUAL RESETTLERS, page 4.
. 21, continued -

Relation-  Residence Age
ship to (1f deceased |(if deec.
Date Name resettler |write "dec." |age at death)

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
21. continued - Occupation
Dec. 1,1921

Grade compl.| E (for deec.last
Birthplace |Amer.school occupation) Religion

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
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22, Educational history of resettler
Elementary schools (name and location)| Datcs Grade completed
Glasgow elementary, Montana 19020

Grommar schools (name and location) Dates Grade completed
Glesgow grammar, Montana 1921-22 1st
Washington school, Hawyre, Montans 19022-2% 2nd
Lincoln school, Havre. Montan:s 192%-258] _4%th
High schools (name and location) Dates Gradc completed
MeKinlev school, Hayre, lMontsna 1925-27 61ih
Havre Jr, hich, Havre, lMontans 19287-29 2th
Favre high, Havre, Montana 1930-34 12th
Colleges, universitlos and vocational Grade
schools (name and location) Dates complcted|Degreo
Pasadena J.C,, Pasadens, Calif, 1024 -36 14%h Ir. Cer,
U, of Calif,, Perkeley, Calif, 1937-39 16th
- P Pasadena J,C,, Pasadena, Calif, 1241 -421 night & day schools
/’ Attendance at Japanese language
\ school, location Datcs

"“TNTKSIJ (;I,Aagv{
~—8—e-Calif., Berkeley, Calif. 1040-41 adult ed. day & nite
Northmeotern U.; Evaapton, 111, 1945 summer quarter
MCA College, Chicago, Ill. 1943 night school




SCHEDULE FOR INDIVIDUAL RESETTLERS, page 5.

22. Occupational history (begin with first job). Note periods of
uncmployment by entering dates continuously and writing
"unemp" in Job column to cover such periods. Include employ-
ment in Assombly Center and Relocation Project and continue
with employment since resettling.
Reason
Dates Av, molfor ter-
From | To |Nature of job |Type of industry| Location|wages [mination
192811929 | Dishwasher Seftanrant Havre S50c day moved
1933 Domestig Seattle. FavS went home
192411936 | School =il Lomestic raspdens [$10 moved
1956 [1957 | domestic gull time » $45 , |school
1903711942 | Domestic (pnrt time) " D0a ﬁa‘ ta ﬁ?% #k.
Dec, (1941 | Clerk (Xmas vecation) " S16 wk
7742 1245 Stripper Box factory Chicago 140-60clhr. changed
1/4519/45 | Switchboard " 490-100 quit
9/43 Typist-clerk | MeClurg's 0 $120

23, Holigious conncctions (begin with first, include assembly
center and Relocation project and status aftor resettlement)
Dates Attended what church Wherc attcnded|What Sunday sch.

went regclblarly durine grammar and high schaogl

24, Political activities
Dates Voted in what clections For what party
1936 Presidential Hepublican
1938 State o
1940 Presidential A
19£'2 Stbte n




Charles Kikuchi CH- 25 (Wakako Ishida Tashiro)
Evacuation & Resettlement Study (pseud. )

Chicago 0ffice '

Feb, 15, 1944

Masako Ishida Tashiro is & 28 year
0ld nisei girl. &t the present time
she is seperated from her husband.
Yasako's case document refeals that she
has not had too intimate a contact with
the Japanese communities on the coast
prior to the war. ©She is ragher inde-
pendent in her actions and she appears
to be fairly well adjusted to her
present status, The interviews were
conducted aver a priod of a month and
a half, It is expected that further
interviews will follow on future pro-
gress 1if there is time avaiiable,
Various notes on developments will be
added from time to time in C.XK.

Diary.




eudonym)
Mrs. Swesd lasako Ishi is & 28 year old nisel woman

tentatively separated from husband at present time
unknown reascons which may be revealed in later interviews.
was born in Glasgow, Montana on April 135, 1915. At the time
outbreak of the war, she was & resident of Pasadena, Cali-
where she had lived for the previous seven years. Masako
never been evacuated as she voluntarily left the coast prior to
date of general travel restrictions. She went to Texas on
1942 with her husband, Mrs. Morikawa and her two sons and
chter, Henry Nagamatsu and Emily Uchiyama. She and her hus-
Chicago on June 3, 1942 and in January,
moved Irom the southside to the near northside.
Masako moved to 742 N. U orn St. where she
the present time, a 1 A ppears be some

1 -
husban

(=1

[

Carl Ishida, brother
Dollie Ishida, sister
David Ishide, brother
Oscar Ishida, brother
shida, brother

Ishida, the father, evacuated to Manzanar alone with an

work orew., The mother was interned for a short time, The




rest of the family from Alfred down were evacuated to the Tulare
Assembly Center. AlTfred was responsible for the younger members of
the family altho he had been married a short time prior to the eva-
cugtion. (His wife is CH-4) At a later time, most of the family
were transferred to Manzanar to join the parents altho Alfred and
his wife went on to Gila.

Mr. Ishida, the father, is 55 year& old and his education
consists of high school graduation in Japan and a business college
diploma in the United States. He was employed as a clerk

have any religious affiliation.
aduate of
was a housewife and als
teacher, <She is a Christ-

were born in

dest brother, Carl, was a graduate student

evacuation and he i ow 1in Iowa dolng research work.
went to work as a wholsesale driver after graduation
school and he was the main support of the family until
f evacuation he rest of the family were born in Havre
Dollie graduated from junior college just before evacua-
she was working part-time a domestic. The rest of the
were still in school at the time of evacuation. The whole
are nominally Methodists in their religious affiliation.

Five of the family are resettled in Chicago at the present time.
Alfred is diving with his wife and father and younger bro ther,
near northside Dollie is living with some of

friends on the near northside also. A running account of the de-

velopnents of this famidy has been noted from time to time




Journal. his ca document will confine itself larg to Masako's
perscnal histor] Another brother, Bob, was in the Army at the
outbreak of the war and he is now stationed in Texas,

Masako has been workinz off and on since 1928 but her main pre-
occupation up to the ] ! has been in completing her education.
For a short time during high school she worked as a dish washer in

estaurant in Havre, lMontana for 50 cents a day. During the
mer of 1933, Masako received her next work experience as a domestic
in a home in Seattle for $75 a month. then did school girl
work from 19384 to 1936 ¢ ing in attended the junior
She received $10 a month for this work. In
domestie work full time in Pasadena Tor
wonth but this work was terminated to reenroll in school
again. From 1937 to tl ime of evacuation, Masako did domestic
rk part-time at 50 cents an hour, sometimes meking as much as
ek by working out this waj During December, 1941, she was
employed as a cierk at 316 a week his work was minated due
to the war condition.

When Masako first arrived in icag 31 was emnloyed as a

tripper in a box factory and she made from 40 to 60 cents an hour.
She did this work from August, 1942 until January, 1945. She then
worked as a switchboard operator and receptionist at the YMCA until
September, 1943 and she received a salary of $20-100 a month, She
guit this job in order to work as a typist-clerk at McClarg's for
5120 a month and she is doing this work at the present time altho

she hopes to devote more time to her education eventually.

Masako is not a regular church attender at the present time

altho she attended the Methodist church regularly during her grammar




and high school days. ©She has voted as a

State and Presidential election since

Fal

(5 )6 1

Tr.
wiase

oal

ako's school history consists

Glasgow elementary school in 1920

Glasgow grammar school, Montana - 19

Washington school, Havre, Montana

Ho
g

Lincoln school, vre, Montana -

MeKinley school, Havre, Montana - 19

Havre junior high school, 1927-29

Havre high school, 1230-34

B
E

asadena junior college, 1934-36

University of California, 1937-39

Berkeley Adult Education Day & Night

Pasadena -42

mer quarter,

Central

™
=

why she did not receive her diploma

suddenly changed her field of study from

it was necessary for her to complete all

she had not fulrilled these requirements

reason she is still classiiied as an unde

receive her diploma if she wanted it.

a se¢ience diploma would be of much mor Vv

arts degree, She considers that

cation and she is not worried about rushi

Masako is a fairly attractive woman

Qo
=

o

S a

slightly on the serious side. She has

she rarely reveals her emotions. She ap

pe
-

1983

YMCA

However,

her work is

Eepublican in every

1936.

the Tollowing data:

21-22
1922~
-29

2D5=2

ochool , 1940-41

1943

College. 'he reason

to date was because she

Education to Seience and
basic
her/science courses

o

o1 as

prex¥ously. Lor this
rgraduate altho she could
Masako feels

alue to her than a liberal
incidental to her edu-
ng through.
altho she tends to be
very calm disposition and

ars to be very well ad-




ad justed to life out here due to her school interests which takes
a great deal of her time in the evenings. She has very few nisei
contacts outside of family members and relatives. This group con-
s of gquite a few members. <Lurther comments on Masako's person-
1lity may be obtained thru a perusal of C.K. diary.

Because of her busy life, it has been a little diffieult to
find time to interview Masako. ©he is quite cooperative to the
writer and she has made a definite attempt to fit the interviews
into her busy schedule. The interviews are incomplete at the date
of the present dietation, Jan, 6, 1944, however, it is expected
that a fairly complete document will be obtained during the early
part of this month unless conflieting schedules develop.

Following is Masako's own life story as told to the writer.
In several places the writer has taken the liberty toc shift around
the sequence order in order to present it in a more ehronclogical

order:

"Like most of the nisei, I know very little sbout

backgzround. | Dad never talked very much about himself. He came to

—
this country when he was 15 years old and he worked as a school boy

.

for a number of years in Seattle, Washington. Dad came from the

Ei-mae_Egp in south Japan. He told us children once that the rea-
son he came to this country was that his father died and his mother
married her husband's brother. Vad had heard quite a bit about the
United States from the missionaries who came into his ken so that

he was filled with an adventurous spirit and he thought that he

could come out here and make his fortune. Lhere really wasn't any-
[

thing for him to stay in Japan for, He came to this country all

alone but there was another relative living around Scattle at first




and he sort of looked after dad until he got used to this country.
I don't know very much ebout what he did during the time he was
working as a school boy. He managed to go all the way through
school and he did tell us once that he went to the-Beeadsay hig

school 1in Seattle and he was one of the few Japanese to go there.

-

Later on he went to -Swmisld Business College in Seattle and he got a

=
@

credential from that place. After that he worked off and on as a

eter for a while.
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"His Tirst real job was working on the payroll car for -the
(3 ‘

crientet-Trading-comnyany . -@Eis company‘waa hired by the Great
1ern Rallway to teke care of all of the Japanese laborers, weieh
~+t-MITed. Since my dad knew £nglish fairly well, he was able to
get this fairlj good job. He did this for a number of years.
Around 1913 my dad decided to get married. "He was about 24 ysars
old then. He contacted his relastives in Japan and one of his uncles
arranged the mdrriage with mother, She arriged in Seattle in 19214
and they were married.

"Dad then decided to start a business of his own so that he

o

went to Gelememew., lMontana and he became a part owner of the s \™
Cafe which was a combination of'a restaurant, pool hall and -barber

shop. I was born in 1915 and there were eight children in all

—

{

altogether. The youngest is now 17.| The cafe did not turn out so

well so that between 1916 and 1920 my father owned a nhotography

studio but it finally went bankrupt. Dad then decided to move to

o

-

Havre, Montana as he heard that there wes a good opportunity for

Jobs there. He worked in a railroad round-house as a boiler washer

and he did this work until 1935 when he moved the family to Cali-




"From 1935 until the evacuation, dad worked as a elerk in an
oriental art goods store. He was able to do this work since he hsad
a good command of English. He has also tried various other tyr
ol jobs. When the evacuation came along, he volunteered to go in
an advanced crew to Manzanar. He resettled out here last November
as he had a job a caretaker at the South Parkway Community

Uenter. He didn't like this work so w so that he quit it to

MeClurg's

brothsr, .--a%recl, at th

-3

01

He has been trying =3 her in

1 AL s
7]

sion of the Army Program at the University of
not get any encouraging replies from that.
trying to get into the Federal Communications to listen to the

broadcast from Japan and interpret them., It will take him a little

ways a very gentle person. He never did ex-
11ldren very muche. [ suspect i< has had
sappointments during his lifetime, but he never let it
personality at all., He was py having such a large
There were times when he was i depressed because he
have the success Ih this country that he thought he was
1tter about it or tried to take it
I never ceould remember him making much of
About all I rememl is that he took 1ot
children during the time he operated #he photo=-
He never attempt d to assert his personality upon

=

would say that he was mostly indifferent and I got




along with him okay.
ﬁjy mother was much more of a definite personality.
she revealed quite a violent temper. | I know that she
lot of times when I was a little girl.
time so that I remember a 1
gquite broadminded for an:Igsei. She came
a very good education. Maybe she
she led over here because she always
live. In 1918 she did
her, Naturally I was too young to remember the trip at
My mother intended to leave my brothe and myself with some
of ‘her relatives in Japan so that we could have the advantages of a

good Fapanese educetion., However, she was disappointed with Japan

when she got¥% there and she didn't like it at gll, so she lugged us

- 0O

right back again. That finished her longing to go back t¢ Japan and
she has been fairly cqntented living in this country ever since
then,

"My parents were fairly cooperative with each other. Dad
sutomatically the boss in business matters but he let mother run
the rest of the hausg%gld. My parents got along well enough on
most occasions althgftuey did have a number of financial differ-
ences. That was becsuse the family was getting larger every year
and 1t was difficult for my father toc take ¢ P all of us in
the manner mother expected. Things got tough in 1925 and mother
had to take in laundry for a while to supplement the family earn-
ings. By that time our femily wes fairly big., 4s I recall it now,

I would say that most of the time our standards of living was about

average. We never lived in deep poverty althd1ﬁ% éame pretty close




L

to the edge of it jfwhen dad moved us to Havre, Montena. At that
I

time we had a Vvery hard time getting a good start and we had to

live in a camp section with other Japanese. This was located in
about the poorest section of the city. We moved out of there in
1926 after my father got established a little bit. This camp sect-
ion had a lot of box cars ir t which were converted to family
dwellings. T were a a lot oi shacks thrown together in

4.1

area. We had to live in one of those box cars. The

1

located at one end and the rest of the box ear was our
and bedroom, There were seven of us living in that box car,
"When we moved out to Havre, there were about four Japar
families and 10 bachelors living in the box car area.
also six or fight hakujin family units eround us and they
tarpaper shacks., I don't recall too much of the life there
weas rather young at the time and I did not realize what a hard time
had to keep things going. My mother couldn't stand it
so that my father finally moved us to a better
We were able to move into a newly built hdéuse and
‘ That was around 1925, I think, and mother
in washing then in order to help with the rent., Our
ocated in a white community and our family got albng well
t‘qn.‘ There never were too many Japanese in Havre, altho the
issei did have a Japanese Association and dad belong to it,
alt 082 the Japanese 4ssociation built a Japanese language
school in town and mother taught there for a year. There weren't
very many children there and my brothers and sisters composed the
larger part of the student body in that school and we did not pay

too much attention., I don't think that the language school there




was very much of a success.
"We didn't have very many relatives in this country altho I
have twe uncles on my mother's side, but they live in Pasaden

o+

Huntington Beach., D has some distant relatives in this

but I have never n then They were mostly livins in the
evacuation, JVad lost most of his contacts with his
family si he left st such a young age. There wasn't very much
him a close contact with it so that he drifted
he years past. When he got his own family, he
less put his attention on
don't have too many vivid memor of my ehildhood. I just
grew up in what I considered a normal asmerican way. The nice part

&

of my childhood was the

Xmas season and birthday parties.. We had a
number of birthday parties since there were so many children in our
family. I always got a lot of toys on my birthday and this would

give me a great deal of pleasure. Since there was not any.Japanese

community in our town, most of the activities centered around the

some Japanese women living in town and the min-

English in our home. Iy mother knew Eng-
educated much more than the other
I don't recall seeing very many

1

I never had any direct contaets with
older people anyway. Our neighbors were Germans and the women
door got very chummy with my mother and she gave mother all
and latest directions on how to raise me in the western
style. Her deughter was my first playmate and I went
ith her for a while, - af 1] rTe mily activities in my

early childhood was to go e woods for a picnic on Sundays and




dad would take piectures of all of us.
"One day my mother took me to the grammar school to visit and
I was very impressed with the penmanship class right away so that
I wanted to go to school. A few days later I was enrolled in class-
es and I met Charlotte, a Caucasian girl, and I became her close

years. also remember a Miss Overby who

o

friend for a couple of
my nicer teachers. This was during the time I was still
and I don't remember much more about that placee. I had

the uswal tonsils and whooping cough and I used to hate to go to

o A¥

the dentist. I had to go to Sunday but it scared me
because the minister talked about going to hell if you were bad.
"There were not very many sherp differences in our home life
from the usual American family so that I do not have many vivid
recollections of it. We always had a t of good things to eat at
home. lother ; a great deal of pride in dressing me well,
I rode on i =8 vhen we were going to Japan but I
on't remember that at all. We were in Seattle for about a month

"

n our return from Japan and I have a dim recollection of riding
an elevator. I went to school after that again and the only
thing I remember is that they taught us how to take care of our

teeth.

some other Japanese living in Glasgow too and they

They always gave me money or things teo
s

ol

y other Japanese children i&wu;asjou after
we left for Havre when my dad went bankrupt
again in Havre. When I was in the second
program and they dressed me up as &

=ad go go to Sunday School every




The paeasant part of this childhood was going ice skating in the

winter time and swimming in the summer. My mother did not think

that it was proper for a Japanese girl to go swimming so she made

i

o1
I

me stay home many times to do housework. ©She gave the reason thgt
she was afraid would drown, At that time I did not know that
many of the old folks had queer superstitions. My mother wasn't
too bad i this respect since she had obtained fairly broad edu-
eation.

"As long as I can remember, we ate american focd for break-

fas At lunch time we had rice with "o supper we ate a

mixture of American and nihonshoku (Jap ifoYo) The only real
nihonshoku we had was on New Year's Once my mother made some real
Th

e

fancy Japanese she worked about three days on it.
Japanese food, especially the noodles, looked so pretty but when

=3

we went to eat none of us children liked it very much. We also

had moehi, fish and all ki - * foods cooked in shoyu. I don't
know the names of all of se di 3 Dad would have his warm
ake at this time. I had %« : aste for Japanese food and
didn*'t begin to appreciate it until I got much older. I am not
of 1t now.
education was very haphazard. It sta d when I
grade book once and I asked my mother if
learn the XYanguage. he started to
12281 she forgot all
didn't teasch me Japanest She told me that it was no use learn-
the vulgar Japa
songs she used to sing, Db she refused to teach me any of them.

I think the reason for that was because they were love songs and




she did not think it waes proper for me to know those at my age.
My mother could use both Japanese and Lnglish but she usually con=-
versed with us in Japanese as it was easier for her. Dad used
time since he had learned it in his younger
why I really didn't learn any Japanese at all until
1l now but I have always been able

stand the simple talk I can't speak it at all except for

al E&QES%& which

We didn't have any of those traditional Japanes
our home. I guess
to be bothered. About the only custopis we had we Ay inE pEeveTs
at the table and that wasn't Japanese. The reason for this was
that I heard a boy say a prayer at the table once and I asked my
mother to teach it to me. ©She went to the Sunday School teacher

s =S

and got him to write it out in English so that she

It was the Lord's Prayer. In our house we didn't. even have
custom of addressing the older brothers and sisters

‘oneesan' and 'onélsan', that is the way of showing

o

older brother and sister. iWe just called each other by our

names. I don't recall having any Japanese customs at all in

home unless you could call New Year's that., The only time I

saw any of the Japanese customs was when some older Japanese came
to our home for a visit. On these occasions my mother would bow
very low in a formal Japanese style and say a very funny intro-
duction. We used to laugh quite a bit at that because we didn't
understand why they had to bow so many times, We never behaved

ourselves whenever guests were present so that my mother made us

children eat alone.




"My parents did read some of those Japanese magazines and they
ubseribed to a Japanese language paper which was sent from Seattle.
mother also received a ege alumnae bulletin from her =school

Tokyo. ©She never told me very much about her life, She was like
dad in this respect. I didn't even know that gy mother was well
educated until I came to Califcrnia. I thought that most of the
issei had a pretty good education and I was surprised to find that
this was not true when I first saw a large number of Japanese in
California. I never had enough contact with them previousiy to
know any different. ‘

"Dad has always had a very definite aim to stay in this coun-
try as far back as I can remember, He had nothing to go back to in
Japan &s he was an only son but he was not in line to inherit any-
thing since his mother remarried. Dad never had too many outside
interests as he kept to himself quite a bit. He wasn't interested
in the politics of Japan at all, HHe was only interested in business
and what money he could make from it. He never talked wmery much
about political matters altho I always accepted the fact that he
was a typical American., VWhen the registration for the Army came to
the camps last year, my father wrote t
volunteered for the Army. He was not accepted S of his age.

idea of ever going baeck to Japan ar F es not long
all. He feels that he belongs here as
most of his life. He never félt that he

has some relatives over there but he doesn't feel se to them at

all, Mother has more of that feeling but since the war she has be-

come reconciled to the idea that she will probably remain in this

country the rest of her life. There may be some longing left to go




back to Japan, but I think that it is more of a sentimental feeling
than anything 56

"I never 1 frie who went completely through school
me beczuse I had © ge around quite a bit., When I fi
to Havre, my friends we ong those w ived in the camp section.
They were Italians, Polish, Eng . ‘ other nationalities.
I got along fine with them and we 2 ver ha y serious Tights. all
of the boys and girls in that area all ayed together. At school
we did the same thing together and during the holidays we would
find our own little amusements. It was this group that first taughi
me how to iceskate.

"Our first contact with nisei near our age was in this camp
section. They were the children of the other Japanese families
living there. We just accepted them just like we accepted the other
little children., Once in a while I woudd play with a couple of the
layed with these

girTle. ifter w 1oved our new home, I never

nisel children anymore in spite of the fact that we wer:
or four blocks removed., I went to another school and T

Later on we nm d to Fourth ot., whieh was another

blocks away. &fter that I became more quiet and I didn't play with

the other children so much as before I only went ice skating in
the winter and swirming in ¢ summer with a few of the friends I
had.

'The reason for that was that I had to help out at home more
and more, Mother found it @ifficult to take care of all of the
children and since I was the oldest daughter, it was up to me to
help her out. I got along fairly well with my brothers and sisters.

Carl and I fought a great deal for some reason but I was indiffer-




erent toward Alfred, Dollie was only ¢ aby then so that I petted
her.,- After the other children bega > nz, they were
burden to me as I had to take care of them, %lhey were in my way and
I didn't like that. I had to be a second mother to them but I
wanted to go out and play instead of doing this. I thought that it
terrible for me to have to do this sort of thing at that time,
it very much when it interfered with my swimming or iece
I always had to put the baby to sleep before I could go
I was the oldest of them all and I didn't think that
served this kind of treatment. Iy brothers didn't have to
kind of wo1 they were spoiled.
school I got into my first real extra
was in the glee club. By that time the children
didn't hamge to help take ecare of them so
I only had to do the dishes and help with the iron-
I continued to go to church all along and I was one
the group which organized the young people's Epworth League, I
studied very conscientiously at school altho I wasn't particularly
interested in my studies. I got on the honor roll all aleng. My
mother didn't let me study too much as she believed that my home
duties came first. After that, it was & choice between my studies
playing and since I was a normal child, I liked to go out and
It didn't interfere with my studies too much.

"In high school I joined the glee club again and I was also a

member of the girl's sextette. I was also in a school trio.

last two singing groups were competitive in nature and I won’

o

place on both of them as my voice was considered fairly good

tigie. I continued toc make honors in my school work all the












































































the Japanese Association and the Japanese school went around and
spoke in favor of my program to the parents. He also mensged to
get a lot of names from the Japanese church. Mr. Sugimachi was his
neme. He was a U.S.C. graduate and he was quite interested in the
young people's program. Later on he got interned because of his
connection with the language school.

"We got the issei mothers definitely interested in the "yn
program, The heads of the "Y" in turn wanted to help advise nisei
girls in times of war and to protect them from possible dangers.,
Later on they had an idea that if they could gét nisei girls in-
terested in the program, these girls would go to the cemps and
start "Y's" there. This was after I left. I left California be-
fore this progrem got under way real well and Betty Holman took
over,

"During the period after the outbreak of the war, and until
I left California, I tended to have more responsibility for my
family. This was bscause my mother was interned as a language

teacher. We had to, think of our income since most of it was cut

off. We took out money out of the bank and & Cauessian friend put

it in her checking account so that it would not be frozen. My
mother was doing house cleaning at various places so I took over
this job. I had to quit school after that. This was in February
1942. My mother had about four of these day work jobs and she
was apaid by the hoﬁr. By that time it became fairly obvious that
we Wwere going to be evacuated.

"I didn't see why I should work so hard by the hour in mny
mother's work. A lot of the Japanese businesses were already

closing out and there were plenty of jobs as helpers. My girl




friend got me a job in a Japanese art goods store in Los Angeles,
When I went over there to see about the job, the front doors were
all locked. I had to enter by the side door and I didn't know
why they kept the main doors closed. Inside it was packed with
people who were buying out everything. The complete stock of the
store was being sold at a sacrifice and they had to ration the
number of people coming in and out in order to control them, I
began to work as a sales clerk there and it didn't make any diff-
erence whether I knew Japanese or not since all customers were
Caueasian,

"When the curfew came into effect, I didn't know whether I
could go over to Los 4ngeles or not from my home. I called the
WCCA office and they didn't knowanything about it. I didn't in-
quiee any further but I continued to drive over to store e#ery day
even though it was much over 5 miles from my home. I was careful
to get in by 8 o'clock in the evening though. In the mean time
evacuation hsd already started ahd people were already going to
Manzanar. My father went with one of the advance volunteer crew
while the rest of us stayed Behind. The responsibility of the
family rested upon the older children since my mother was in-
terned. All of these movements split the family up quite & bit
and we have never been allogether since that time.

"We wanted to get our house all cleared up and ready for the

evacuation. I was doing my own personal packing at the same time

and it was understood that L wouldn't go with the rest of the
femily as they knew I was goling east to go to school, We had
quite a time renting our house out and we all pitched in together

and painted it up to make it more attractive.




"I had first started to think of going east along in January.
I had originally planned to come out to school some time anyway and
I felt that I would have to hasten it, I didn't have any definite
school picked out altho I planned to look for a small school in
the giddlewest or in the east. 4t that time I didn't know that
certain schools would be on the restricted list. My immediate
circle of friends were also thinking of voluntary evacuation and I
picked up courage from them, I certainly didn't want to remain in
the west coast as I figured that eventually that everyone would be
put in camps anyway.

"George Morikawa, Henry Nagamatsu and Yosh Tashire (this is
a psuedonym while the other two are real names) came over one day
and asked me what 1L was going to do. I told them that 1 was try-
ing to go east but I didn't know exactly how I would go. They
said they were going to get out of the restricted area also. They
said they would go by car and they offered to take me along or
else offer to loan me some money to go by train, I knew Yoshé#
Ta®shiro well sinece I lived with his father who was a minister,
These fellows all had pretty good jobs in the University excent
Henry who was working for Douglas Aircraft ahd they didn't want to
get stranded in California. They thought that if they went to a
center they might not be able to apply any of their skills since
the camp would not be well developedl They had good jobs they had
fo leave and they thought chances would be better if they got out
to another section of the country. 4nother thing that bothered

them was that they didn't like the things that the,K JACL was doing.

They felt that there wouldn't be a chance in camp‘£§g}e people

like us since the JACL leaders would try to lord it over everyone.
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We figured that if the Japanese could not cooperate outside of

camp then it would be a hell hole inside of it and we didn't want

any part of it., I can look back upon this thing more calmly now
but we certainly were disturbed by many things. We tried to make
an adventure out of it and we did have quite a bit of fun, but we
also were plenty worried. Now I can look back on it and just re-
member the ex#citing &nd plemsant things but there were moments
when I was panicky. I tried to keep calm most of the time so that
the nervous feeling would not overcome all of us who went.

"We talked ebout leaving for several days and we decided to
leave before the voluntary evacuation was stopped. Yosh was a
non-citizen and he didn't want to get caught in the whole mess,
There was another girl who had a car and she wanted me to volun-
tarily evacguate with her. Her family was pretty well off so that
she had money to go back east to school. I told her that I had
already planned to go with another group so that she finally de-
cided to stay back and be evacuated and then try to get out later.
This girl is still in camp.

"After we made our definite deeision to go, George Morikawa
went home to find out what his family was planning to do. He
iidn't want them to think that he was running out on them. Ve
waited around for him but he didn't return., Finally we got im-
patient since we couldn't wait around much longer so that Henry,
Yosh and I decided to go on by ourselves, We had to get our per-
mit from the WCCA before we could leave the state. Yosh had to
get a special permit because of his non-citizen status. At the
last momment Henry said he was bringing Emily along as they were

planning to get married and that was a big surprise to us, At




the last moment George wrote and told us that his mother, brother,
Ken, and sister, Riyo, were coming along and he said that his
other sister was remaining behind to settle the last family
affairs. We all had different cars in our party.

"I had a pretty hard time getting my permit from the WCCA.
They told us that we had to have a definite address to go to be-
fore a permit would be granted to us. Ueorge said that he had a
2-acre place in Burke Bennett, Texas and there was a house there.
So Yosh gave @s that as his destination. George and his family
listed that address also as well as Henry and Emily, I didn't
know what to put as my destination as there were too many people
going to that place and it looked suspicious. There was a hakujin
girl I knew back east so I thought of using her address. However,
she lived in Maryland and I would have to pay the transportation
from lexss to my hakuiin girl friend's home and that would hsave

been too great an expense for me. I didn't know what to do but

the WCCA finally eccepted Texas es my destination also after

George told them he had a big house there.

"I was quite relieved when this was settled but the WCCA
still put another obstacle in my way. They said that I had to get
my parent's permission to go with this party as it was not in line
with social traditions for a single girl to be traveling with 3
fellows. I told them that I was old enough to make up my mind on
things and furthermore my parents did not care. I told them that
they could write to my father in Manzanar and my mother in the
internment camp if they did not believe me. Finally I mentioned
that Yosh's father was reverend. I said I could get a written

st&tement from them that Mrs, Morikame was going along with us and




she would look after the group. It was a Sunday so I went over to
Rev. Tashiro's house and he wrote a letter to the WCCA saying that
we were old family friends and that he trusted us, etc., etec. The
WCCA was convinced and they gave us the permit. This was on HMar.
22, 1942,

"We were all set to go that day but Yosh was having his car
overhauled and the mechenics were slow about it. L was having
fits as we had to be cut of that area by next morning or else our
permits would be no longer of any use. We all asgreed to travel
light and take one grip apiece so that we would have room in the
car Tfor all of us. We arrangéd for having the rest of our things
sent out later. George “orikawa got impatient and he left for
San Diego to pick up his family members and we agreed to meet
later on at some city near the border of California. George was
also supposed to pick up Henry and Emily, We decided that we
would meet at San Bernardino and then Henry and EZmily could get
into our car as Yosh was going to be delayed in getting off.

"It was a pretty hectic time but we finally managed to get
off. I was pretty excited and it was also quite an experience.

We drove right straight through but we missed George's car in San

Bernardino so that we went on towards arizona. Late that night we

caught up with them and we were very surprised because Henry and

Emily had a car of their own. They had brought all of their
bagcage with them. We were pretty griped about that because it
hed been agreed that we take one bag apiece and here we hdda a
whole empty back seat because of that. We could have taken a lot
more things if we had known Henry was going to have & car 8f his

own, George had a sedan for his family and he had a small trailer




filled with baggage . It was tied down with canvas and rope.

"George led the way as he could not go very fast since he had
a heavier load. Our small caravan looked like an okie migration,
only we were going in the other direction. L1t was quite exciting
but Mrs. Morikawa was frightened since she was an issei. As we
crossed the bridge into Arizona we were stopped by the border
guards. <“‘hey examined our belongings to see if we had any guns or
other contraband goods and &fter they were satisfied that our per-
mits allowed us to travel, they told us to hurry up and get through
the state of Arizona and not to stop any place to live or it would
be too bad for us. We didn't pay any attention to him at all.

"We were driving along looking at the desert scene when
George and Henry all of a sudden got an idea that they wanted to
see the Grand Canyon. ‘“This was about 100 miles off our course.

We didn't think it was such a good idea as we knew that we should
get out of the restricted zone as soon as possible. We stopped and
talked it over for 15 minutes and finally we decided to go see
trand Canyon anyway bedause we would not have a chance for a long
times. Mrs. Morikawa was against it and she thought sure that we
would get arreczted. We drome the rest of theway to Grand Canyon
znd after we got there we rented a cubin in some resort.

"We enjoyed the view of the Grand Canyon immensely but after
a while we got hungry. <here wasn't any place to eat and it was
fortunate w 1 had a big box of sandwiches which I brought along.

The other people in our caravan were so excitéd about leaving that

they did not think of sandwiches. We had plenty to go around tho.

"This was really the first time in over a week that we had a

chance to stop and think ealmly. I suppose that's why we had such




a deep and restful sleep, that first night out. Our feeling was
that we were running away like fugitive from an awful mess altho
we had mixed feelings, I think that we were relieved to think that
we were getting out of the me®® on the coast. Yet, there was a
bewilderment among us because we didn't know exactly what we were
going to do after we got to Texas. We didn't know how the hakujin
people would treat us and there was also a thought that there migght
possibly be some violence. We didn't know whether the stores
would sell us food and gas because of the rising feeling of anta--
gonism. We didn't have trouble about gasoline beceuse one of my
old friends who ran a service stetion gave me the name of his
brother in Arizona who also ran a service station. We stopped
there for gasoline and that was enough to take ms across the s&ate.
"The next morning we started out on our trip again. We came
down from the Grand Canyon and the roads were pretty deserted. I
was driving one car and Riyo was driving the other. Henry drove
his own. We got to R8 racing a little and all of a sudden a State
patrolman stopped us for speeding., Ve were pretty frightened at
this., When he saw us he asked us immediately for our permit. Ee
wanted to know what we were doing out there. Ve told him our des=-
tination and he warned us to stay on our course and keep moving,
Then he let us go onhwithout giving us a ticket for speeding.
There was a let-down after that and we drove and drove as we wented

to get to Albuquerque where we could get hot food and a bath. Ve

didn't think we should stop at any small town along the way because

there might be a hostile feeling toward us. Towards evenings we
got into Albuquerque, New Mexico and it was no trouble &% all to

get reservation in a beautiful modern tourist camp. The beds were
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so comfortable. We rented two rooms and four fellows took one
room and Mrs, Morikawa and the other girls took the other.

"After we got settled in our cabins we decided to go out and
eat. We didn't think it was so wise to go out in one group so we
Yosh and I separated from the others. We wanted to get away from
the group anyway and go splurge on = big meal in a nice place. We
went to one of the larger eating places in Albuquerque. There were
& lot of Indian and Mexican waiters there. We were quite surprised
when Yosh was mistaken for a Mexican., One of thewaiters called him
Pancho. We didn't have a single bit of trouble in Albugquerque. We
went to one of the bigger hotels to buy borie acid to wash our
eyes out with and everyone gas quite courdeous to us.

"The next morning we all went in a group to eat breakfast in
& restaurant. The hakujin people looked at us curiously but no
one bothered us at all. 4fter we ate we went off the shop for
about 2 hours as we wanted to get some supplies accumulated.

George had to go get his short-wave radio disconnected because we
didn't want to get into trouble over that. After thet we all
started out again, Our next stop was our destination in Texas,
This was our third day out.

"We didn't arrive at our destination that third eveninsz so we
had to stop in a little town in north Texas. It was getting late
80 we started to look for a tourist camp, We couldn't find any so
we went to ask a gas station attendant for information. He finally
directed us to a fairly nice place and we got rooms and started to
unpack our things. We were doing this when the police came.

"It was a funny feeling to have those police come and ask us

s0 many questions. We might just as well been fugitiges from jus-




tice because they were so suspicious of us. They took us down to
the police station for interviews. We were asked a lot of quest-
ions about our plans, destinations, ete. +#inally they were con-
vinced that we had a definite destination. Then the chief warned
us to be careful. He said that a lot of boys in the Army were
getting killed by the Jap soldiers and the people of Texas were
pretty aroused about this so we had better get on out of the town
right away. We told them that we were all out of the military
zone and that we could not be forced along like this. We said
that we plan to stay in that town for three days in order to rest
up. The police saw that he couldn't convince us to go on so he
reluctantly okayed us. I thought the whole thing wes exciting and
kind of fun. I didn't have too many fears about possible violence,
Mrs. Morikewa was the only one who was actually frightened by what
was said. We managed to eelm her down though. I suppose that a
lot of our gaiety on the trip was directly due to this., We didn't
want to give in to the fears that Mrs. Morikawa had along the trip
so that we attempted to dismiss them lightly. I think that this
made our trip much better.

"We went back to our apartments in the tourist camp. There
was a kitchentte in one of them so that we decided to cook and eat
in so that we wouldn't have too many contacts with the townspeople.
However, we did go out for a walk during the day and the towns-
people seemed nice to us. We never had any trouble at all. The
police watched us all three days we were there. During the even-

ings we talked until late hours on what we would do after we got

to our destination. We couldn't make up our minds so that we fin-

ally decided to go to Burke-BEennet, Texas where George had his two




acres and house. We figured that we could make up our minds after
we got there. We rested up for a few days. <The boys wrote letters
back to their former employers and college friends to tell asbout

their plans for going on to school. The rest of us cleaned up ame

best as wek could. I didn't have much clothing es I had only

brought one grip.

"When we finally did leave that town, the police escorted us
out. They must have phoned to the next town because the police
were waiting for us when we got there. They were afraid thst we
were going to live there too so they warned us to go on. The
third time this hapnened Yosh decided to trick them. We left the
caravan and entered the town in another way and we met the rest of
the party later on. After that we were not bothered any more with
police escorts. We drove all day and all night so that we would
not have to stop in any more towns before getting to our destina-
tion.'

"I was driving the car early the following morning when we hit
our destination. I can't describe the feeling of disappointment
that came over us. We thought thet the town had 7000 population
and I was anticipating a town similar to Havre where I had lived.
But, it was a stinky little town and there couldn't have been over
500 population in it. There were o0ld men sitting around and dark-
ies walking around the street in a shuffling pace. Women were
going around with bonnets and they were dressed very poorly. It
was just like those frontier towns which you see in the western
movies.,

"We looked all over for George's house but we couldn't locate

it. Finally I saw a little shack in the distance and I jokingly




said that this was the place. Sure enough, it was the house and
the *farm'. I never saw a more miserable place in all my life.
Even the slum districts I have lived in in Montana was luxury com-
pared to this. The windows of the shack were all bordered up.
There was a nice stome inside but no gas. The shack was filled
with dust and there was no electriecity or running water. It con-
sisted ©f two small rooms which did not occupy a total space of
more then 20 by 20 feet,

"In spite of our initial dismay, we were relieved to get to
our destination. We tried to joke about it by saying that we were
not going to stay there permanently. George said that we could
clean the place up and perhaps bunk down for the night. We were
wondering when the police would come. We had no sooner said this
when sure enough the provost marshal of the Army and the 'City
manager' came driving up. They examined our permits and they con-
cluded that it was okay. The provost marshal said that the towns-
people had sent him urgent phone call that a Jap invasion had come
to their‘own so he had come out to investigate.

"There was an air corps ceamp with 34,000 men right near out

shack. The city manager told us that we could not get any zas or

water unless we got permission from the neighbor. However, he

said that this neighbbr was in the Navy so we would have to do
without. We got worried then so we asked the provost marshal if
we could go to Wichita Falls, Texas to stay. He took the boys to
the Army camp and they had lunch there. They left Ken, George's
younger brother behind, to ®*protect us",.

"Several Army men came along in a car and we discussed the

dumb people of Burke-Bennet who were so frightened of us. It was
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quite a joke. 4 little later the provost manager came back and

he took us personally to Wichita Falls and found us a place in a

modern tourist camp. We had to eat out. We couldn't decide on

what we should do next. I decided that the immediate thing was to
find a larger apartment where we could think and keep out of each
other's way., After three days I managed to find a place and we
moved in. It was much more convenient for us to set up house-
keeping.

"George and his sister, Riyo, finally decided to go on a trip
to find out the best school for us to enter., We thought that it
would be cheaper if they went and we could wait behind and rest,
until they came back, In the meantime Douglas Aireraft Co. was
sending Henry letters about possible job contacts in the esst.
Yosh was sending lettersbd basck to Cal-Tech to finish up some of
his business there. I was in no hurry as I felt that I could find
a school or else go to work if necessary. I figured that the new
school term wouldn't open up until summer session or fall anyway.
I agreed to stay with the group until everyone was taken care of.

"After a while it wot very boring as we had to stay there 3
months altogether. George and Riyo went to investigate all the
schools in the middlewest. One night he phoned long distance and
tcld us that all ofthe universities were closed to us by army
orders. This was quite a shock to all of us and we had to decide
on something else. I thought it was no use my staying there and
holding things together. I was sick for about a week once becsuse
of all the nervous tension. It wasn't me that got so excited so
much as the other people and this got on my nerves. Yosh and I

couldn't leave until George and Riyo got back as we had agreed to




stay.

"In the meantime Henry and £mily suddenly left, as Henry had

received a job offer with Curtis Afrcraft in Buffalo, N.Y. Henry
and Emily had gotten married secretly in Wichita Falls. I happened
to see the name of a Japanese couple in the vital statistics sect-
ion and it all came out. We had champagne and cake to celebrate
thelr marriage just before they left. It must have been hard for
them because the girls and boys stayed in the separate rooms until
the end. <They took naps in the afternocon while wer were out of

the house though. We were living no better than the people in

camp according to some of the letters which we received.

"During the 3 months we were there, we got library cards out
and read books. We also wrote letters, listened to the radio and
went to movies. A lot of our time was spent in discussing the eva-
cuation, attitude of people in town and our problems, During the
day we went swimming, played tennis or else practice golf. Once
in a while we would go to drink beer. <he rest of the time we
loafed around and took it easy. Ve sek slept late almost every
day. Yosh and . read or studied until quite late at night.

"In time, we got the household routine organized. At first
we had taken turns to cook the meals, However we found that the
meals were not well planned and it was costing us too much, ¥e
talked the whole thing over and finally I decided to take over all
the cooking so I could cut the expense in half. We kept track of
all expenditures so we could divide it among us. The other girls
did the dishes. The only meal we ate together was dinner, The
other meals had to be on their own as none of us got up at the

same time, Henry had gone to work scon after arriving in Wichita




for the local Douglas Aircraft plant and Emily went over to help

him. Oceasionally I also went down to draw some of the blueprints,
I think that our stay there was about the hardest on Yosh because
he had nothing definite to eccupy him during the day. We were
also kept busy cooking and doing the washing.

"I didn't have very much to wear as I had only brought one
suitcase, That's why I had to wash my things almost every day so
that I would have & change. We went down to the Scars Boebuck and
shopped for surmer clothes. We alsoc sent back for some more of
our lugegage. All of these things kept us pretty well occupied.

On Sundays Riyo and I went to church. Once we took her mother to
a special mother's day service and that was about the only time
that she ever wemt out during our stay there. The rest of us
would go to Burke-BEennett several times a week for our mail.

"In spite of this, I was getting pretty bored so I decided to
try for a regular job. I was &also in need of the money since I
had no regular income. I put an Ad in the newspaper and then
started tc go out on my own. I tried to get a job as a typist in
a hotel there but I was turned# down for this. I got a number of
calls for domestic work from my newspaper Ad so I went to inter-
view several of the prospective employer. One lady offered me
$3 a week to do all the housework and cooking Por her family of
three. I didn't like the hours and the pay so I turned it down.
All of the rest of the domestic offers were cheap like this,

nIn our evening discussions we began to talk more and more of
leaving as soon as George and his sister came back from thier tour
of middlewest Bchools. We had to wait for them since he could

give us some idea of what schools we could enroll in., I wasn't




too concerned about what I would do as my brother Carl had gone

to Madison, Wis. in the meantime and I knew that I could zo there
anytime to stay. Carl had a teaching fellowship at the University
0% Wisconsin., There was one other nisei there when Carl arrived.

Because of some complications, the "Tniversity took the fellowship

away from Carl, The other nisei 2@, to stay on as the Alumni Asso-

clation paid his wages and some of the instructors also contributed
to this fund. Carl did not have anyone like this to baeck him up

so that he was just waiting around hoping that the school would be
opened up to him,

"In Juge, 1942, George finally got back to Wichita. He talked
favorably for the University of Winnesota and also said that there
were & lot of schools around Chicego. After talking it over for
quite a while he suggested that the University of Wisconsin was the
best bet for Yosh so we detided to go up there and Jodn Carl. ¥
wanted to go on ahead with Yosh as I couldn't stand waiting around
any longer as George kept putting things off too mueh., I got the
house in order and Yosh and I went on ahead.

"George and his family said that they were going to Chicago.
They gave Dr. Tashiro's address as their destination so that they
could get a permit to trevel. Yosh and I decided to go to St.
Lowis before heading for Wisconsin since he had a possible job
prospect there. Originally Yosh had planned to go to the Univer-
sity of Washington in St. Louis but the school was absolutely
closed to him when he had contacted them. The school board turned
him down as no Japanese was being taken at that time, In St.

Louis Yosh went around to scme of the large beer plants to try

and get a job as a chemist., Nothing definite turned up so that we




continued on to Madison.

"Two days later Ueorge and his family left Wichita. They
came directly tc Chicago so that they were here ahead of us since
we had taken a detour to Madison., Originally we did not plan to
come to Chicago but events forced us to revise our plans. George
rented an apartment on the southside amd he wrote to us and said
that there would be room for us there if we decided to come to
Chicago. At that time we had no intention of doing this. In Mad-
ison Yosh and I looked up Carl and then Yosh started to make the

rounds to visit the various professors to find out what chance he

had. There was nothing there for him in the way O% work or in

graduate studies. Yosh also contacted the Cancer Reseasrch to see

about a job but he was turned down. It seems that a lot of places
wanted to hire him because of his ability, but they had ne author-
ity to put an élien Japanese on the payrodl.

"During this time I decided to investigate my chances for
enrolling in the university. I went to the undergraduste division
and they told me that I would get in. I thought this was strange
because they would not allow graduate students to enrolli. I
wanted to go there but the non-residence tuition fee was too high
for me so I had to give up that idea. During the time we were
there we looked up quite a few of the nisei. Most of the time we
talked about the evacuation problem. ©Some of the nisei students
had been in Madison during the evacuation so they didn't know any-
thing ebout it. They were pretty worried about their families so
we told them sbout the general situation and this seemed to put
them at ease.

"I didn't have any trouble at all in finding an apartment up




there. It happened to be the end of the school term so that there
were plenty of vacancies. I found a place right away and I was
surprised when the landlady told me that they would not take any
Negroes but nisei were okay. I think that it was much easier for
me to find an apartment there than in Berkeley during the time I
was attending U.C. Ve spent about another week going around and
talking to various nisei. I got fed up with this because they
never talked sbout anything else except the nisei problem, One
morning I decided that 1 couldn't stand it any more so I ditched
everybody and wandered off by myself. I went towards the univer-
sity and I got lost on the campus., I asked a Caucasian girl to

give me the direction home. She was very nice and she even went

to the trouble of going part way with me. ¥We got to talking to

each other and we decided to go have breakfast together. Tlhen
she told me all about the University of Wisconsin and she even
took me to her sorority house to introduce me to some of her
friends. This was really a grand feeling especially when I com=-
pared it with my experience at the University of California where
people were not that friendly. I wanted more than ever to enroll
there. I was so excited about this experience that I even spilled
my grapejuice all over myself, I spent the whole morning with
this girl and then I went to my brother's apartment,

"That afterncon we finally decided to come on to Chicago as
Yosh was getting discouraged and he felt that he had no prospects
there. My brother Carl wanted to hang around a little longer be- .
cause he felt that a break would come sooner or later. I thought
that he should come to Chicago and get a job instead of »a8 wait-

ing around there and spending all of his money without having an
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income. Carl refused to come so that Yosh and I left for Chiecago.
"We arrived here on June 23, 1942, We went directly towards
the University of Chicago to look George and the family up.
George wanted us to move right in with them as he said that there
would be room. Imagine my surprise when we had to go up to the
third flocr in a dimly 1lit building. I was shocked when I saw
what the apartment was actually like. 1t was a two-by-four apart-
ment and it was so untidy and dirty. There were bags laying all

around the place and the beds were all unmede. I couldn't see how

all six of us could possibly live in such a cramﬁgﬁlace as that,

However, I was too tired to even think about looking around for
another place. George said that it was almost impossible to find
an apartment, so we decided to stay for a little while.

"That evening we talked for a long time about our plans, I
was pretty tired and I kept wondering how we were going to sleep.,
Riyo and her mother want to bed first and they took the sleeping
couch., George and his brother, Kenji, took the other couch. ‘hat
meant that Yosh and I had to loock around for a spot on the floor.
It was stifling hot that night and I didn't sleep very well. Riyo
discouraged my looking for another apartment the next day when she
said that I couldn't find a place. ©She said that her landlady was
an Austrian and that was why she was nice to the nisei., However,
1 had no intention of sleeping in the floor #or eny lenzth of time
so I asked the landlady if she had another sleeping room in the
building, ZFfortunately she did have one. Riyo and I decided to
sleep in thissingle room. <1he next night Hiyo went to bed first

and about an hour later she came running in to tell us that there

were hundred of bed bugs in the bed. We did not believe this so




we all went down to look and sure enough there were hundreds of
bed bugs crawling all over the bed. It was an amazing sight to
me. I think this crushed my morale and I almost broke down and
cried. Wehad to sleep on the floor once more that night.

"Employment was another immediate problem that I had to think
about. Riyo was also very anxious to go to work even though her
family had a lot of money. It sort of griped me to find out that
she was a very grasping individuel., Her father operated & nursery
on the coast and he had a lot of real estate. When he died he
left a big insurance and a lot of property to his family. They
wers getting a regular income from this property every month.

Riyo was only 19 and I thought that she should worry more about
making her mother comfor#able instead of getting so excited about
a job. I knew that they could afford a much better apartment
than this. However, I couldn't worry about their problems since
I was in need of a job.

"I phoned to the YWCA as I felt that it was vital for me to
get a job right away. When | mentioned my "Y" activities on the
coast, they gave me an appointment right away. 1 was relgéved at
this since L was down almost to my last cent. Riyo was also given
an appointment for a day later than I. However, she went down
with me and she went in for the interview on my appointment and
she was given a job. She was too young to realize what she had

done but her brother was pretty sore at that. ‘hers wasn't any-

t
thing I could do about it so I didn't say anything.

"The next day I went to the USES and they offered me a do-
mestic job of taking care of children. There were plenty of

domestic job offers but I wasn't too interssted. Then the inter-




viewer thought that 1 might be able to get an office Job if I took
a battery of test that they had. L was interested but 1 told them
1 couldn't wait for that since I wanted a job immediately.

"About that time Riyo started to look for a larger apartment.
She wanted us to move in with them but I thought that we should
break up. 1 realized that most of the apartments in Chicago were

small. Riyo had the idea that $40 = month was a terrible rent to

pay. cShe went all over looking for a place and she was never sa-

tisfied. In several places she put an initial deposit down but
she lost the place because of her indecicsion. Finally she was
able to find an apartment around 44th St. on the southside and her
family moved in. Yosh and 1 remained at the old apartment. After
this was all settled, I renewed my efforts for a job.

"] put an Ad in the paper for general office work., I put
down that I was a Japanese American with a college education and
I asked for $15 & week. I didn't know at that time that the wages
I asked were too cheap and below the minimum required for general
office. work. I got over two dozen calls. Ourlandlady forgot to
take the numbers down for most of these ocalls, however, there
were enough on hand and I started to investigate the best offers,
There wes one offer that sounded very good so% that I went down
there. I was puzzled when the address led me to some dirty aprt-
ment houses. I asked at a corner drug store and they told me that
there were no such company around. I was quite suspicious but I
went to the address. I was quite surprised when a single man
opened the door. BHe tried to get me into his apartment. I resl-
ized then that he had sent in the job offer because he wasnted to

lure me to his place for other p:see purposes. I left there




pretty fast. I had several calls like this. 1 think that there
must have been some degenerate single men who made a regular
practice of doing this. One day I went to the American Friends
office to tell them of my experience. I suggested to them that
they should investigate all the job lea&ﬁ fully before sending a
young girl out to them. A lot of them nisel girls are naive and
didn't think that they wouldn't know how to protect themselves,
The interviewer at the ifriends office said that they would be more
careful of this sort of thing as they had heard of couple of other

girls who had the same experience as 1 did.

"One day, I got a lead thru the Haﬂh-hd section for a job at

the paper box factory on the westside so I went out there. I was
able to convince the employer that I could do the work so that he
gave me the job. It wasquite a relief to finally start working.
This was in August, 1942,

"Yosh and I continued Iiving in the apartment which the Mori-
kawas had left. Yosh got the idea that he could collect social
security so he went down and put an application in. After three
wecks of waiting he started to get his money. He was getting $16
e week and he got it for about four months. Durinz this time he
did not look for a job very hard. He Jjust stayed home and restaig
It was during this time that my bwother Carl came in from Madison.
This gave Yosh and excuse to show him the sights and they did not
care very much sbout going to work as they still had some plans
about doing graduate study. Yosh didn't want to take any sort of
a job énd there were few openings in his line. I was a fool as I
worked hard all day and then I would come home and cook for them

at night. On top of that they talked dirty talk all night long




and they didn't even do the dishes. I got sore one night and I

told them off. They only made half hearted attempts at looking

for a job and I was pretty disgusted at this. I was a damn fcol

for being imposed on like this. The two of them didn't work for a
month and I got pretty fed up. Carl finally decided to go back to
Madison again to pick up his luggage. He was just sitting around
waiting for the school to open up for him.

"Yosh and I got back to a more normal life again for a few
days and then my brother came back. The trouble was that he was
always worrying about his wife and kid in camp and he was afraid
to bring them out. I thought he should have done that a long time
ago as they would have been able to get along. Carl left imme-
diately to go to Lincoln, Nebraska as he had been accepted into
the graduate chemistry school there. That was the last of him
then., After that, he had such a hard time trying to get his wife
and baby out of Gila. They finally got together after September
or October, 1942, Carl took the longest time in getting his wife
out because he was so afrsid that they could not make a go of it.
He just made himself sick worrying about her and I was relieved
when he finally left. I got tired listening to all of his troubles,

"In the meantime I continued work at the box factory. When
I first started I got 45 cents an hour and every month therec was a
five cents an hour raise until I got up to about B8 or 60 cents an
hour, I also got time and a half for over-timge work. I helped
around the office and I did some filing work. It was a slack
season in the feetory but there was also a lot of backlog work
that I had to catch up on. However, I finished that up pretty

quickly and I just sat around wondering what to do to keep busy.




One day the boxs asked me if I would dust the show windows. Since

I had a lot of time on my hand I decided to go ahead and go all of

the windows in the office and fix the bo%bs ertigtically. The boss

was very pleased at this., I had been thinking of guitting but he
asked me to stay on. I told him that I would not stay permanently
as I ptanned to go to school eventually. We got along very well.
My boss always talked about his facbdbry and I had a picture in my
mind that it was a huge place. I finally found out that he only
had one press man and the factory was very small., DBusiness start-
ed to pick up a little again so my boss started to look arocund for
a secretery. He interviewed some Caucasian girls and they were
pretty lousy. I thought to myself that if they could qualify for
secretaries I could do the same thing. }

"One day I went out to the factory with the boss and I asked
him if I could help with the bomes instead of doing the general
ofiice work for a while as it looked interesténg. He agreed to
it so I did the stripping of the boxes. I liked the idea of being
in a factory and I wanted to get that out of my system while I had
the chance, When my curiosity about factory work had been satis-
fied, I lost interest. The job got very boring after that since
it only took me a day or so to get the skill and it was no longer
a game for me after that.

"I also continued to work up at his office. My boss wanted
me to learn how to do inventory records for him. He said that he
would give me a desk and a raise, He had not been having very
much success with a secretaryli The girl he hired was very stupid
and she didn't know how to operate the switch board. My boss sent

me down to the Bell Telephone Company to learn switehboard work




and then I had to teach it to the Cnucasién girl. The girl was so

dumb that she finally quit and my boss got another secretary., This

one quit just before I left,

"It was getting near Xmas and Yosh's social security was run-
ning out. He was still trying to pull stringsfor a good job with-
out much success. I told him that my boss would hire him as a
shipping clerk so he swallowed his pride a little and took the
job. I was getting tired of my job and I thought that Yos%ﬁ
should work while I looked around for another job for myself.

"It didn't take me long to find another job. I got a posi-
tbon as a mimeograph operator at the "Y" around the beginning of
1943, Yosh and I decided that our apartment was too small and I
wanted to get further away from the Morikawas. I couldn't stand
the younger brother, Kenji, any longer. He was a high school se-
nior and he never made any attempts to make any iriends at school.
He moped around all the time. He would always be tagging asound
with us. Even when I would inviteﬁ George over for dinner, Kenji
would come tagging along without an invitation. Yosh would not
tell George to make his brother stay home, VWhenever they came to
dinner Yosh would telk to George and I had to entertain Kenji.

It was too much of an effort so I finally left him alone. He
would sit all afternoon on the sofa in a sort of a daze. His sis=-
ter Riyo was still in a daze too. The other sister who had not
voluntarily evacuated finally came out to join the family and she
was much more sensible. Mrs. Morikawa was having a difficult time
making adjustment because she had a feeling of insecurity and she
was always worr ying about needless things.

"Riyo used to go down to the Japanese Church at the Fourth




Presbyterian Church, where Rev. Sai preached. Afterwards they
would come over to the apartment together. I never went to church
with that bunch as I didn't care to go to a Japanese service. Yosh
and I just visited them at home about two or three times a week,
One day Riyo told me that she was engaged. I thought that she was
engazed to do something for the evening so I told her not to mind
me aB I would go ahead and do some# knitting. Riyo said again,
*But I'm engaged to Rev. Sai and we are getting married pretty
soon, " I was amazed at this as I was unaware that a romance had
been going along under my nose all this time and I was not aware
of it., They had a pretty big wedding in a chapel and I went to
cut the édew cake. There was a large crowd at this wedding and it
Formosan

was a mixed audience. Rev, Sai is a kereem and he has been out
here for many years. After he finished the theological school he
started to presch at the Presbyterian Church and he is still there.
The other Morikawa sister is also engaged to a Korean now.

"I was getting pretty sick and tired with this nisei society.
I wanted to get away from them so I decided to move, Ve had too
many visitors and it kept us broke trying to feed them. My bro-
ther Carl would always bring his friends for dinner during the time
he was there. Then for a couple of weeks, my other brother in the

Army came up from Texas on a two weeks' furlough with two of his

_ friends and we had to entertain them. All of this was getting on

my nerves and it was part of the reasson why I decided to get ano-
ther job. I wanted to register at Northwestern University for a
part-time course, After I got my job, Yosh also started to look
around for another job. He went at $sk# it very seriously this

time. On week-ends we would go around looking for an apartment.




We walked all over the near northside for an apartment. Ve
couldn't find a satisfactory place. I wanted to be within walk-
ing distance of the downtown KNorthwestern Univeesity where I
planned to register. Yosh also wanted to be down there since he
had gotten a lead for a %ea- job as a chemist at Northwestern. He
scld his car about this time since it was too much of an expense
to keep it up. Finally in the middle of January, 194>, he found

a fairly large apartment which rented at $768 a month. I liked the

place very much so that we moved in immedistely and we had & van

bring our things over from the south side. It only cost us $6.

The school semester started the next week so that I enrolled. I
was feeling quite happy bedause I had found a new job, a good
apartment and I was enrolled at school all within a period of one

week.




Feb. 12, 1944

Due to the extreme difficulty of contacting ¥ukl, the inter-
viewer hastily concluded the main part of the interview. 1t is
expected that further detzils will be obféined from time to time

since contacts will be kept up on this individual. There are

atalt
certain aspects of Qﬁﬁ#hs which she is not willing to reveal now

interviewer felt that it was not the time to press the

matter, that is, her relationship with Yosh Takhiro, her cormon-
lgw husband., ggzgliéntinued her story from the beginning of 1943,

"Around the middle of January, 1943, I started a more settled
phase of my life. I was enrolled in college and I had a more fom-
fortable living quarters and I also had a different job. I was
the mimeograph operater for the YWCA. The job was very routine
and I quickly managed to cateh on to all of the duties. I cut the
stencils and I also did some typing and drswing on the side. My
salary started at $80 a month and graduaily I worked up to $110 by
the time I left there at the end of august. I never did particu-
larly care for the job altho I enjoyed the switchboard reliefl work
during the summer. The mimeogreph work is hard on you phisgically
and I wasn't getting such a good salary. The enwvironmental set-up
was good though as I had pleasant surroundings. A social agency
never pays very much and I could not ask for a raise as they had
a strict budget to work in. At no time did the work become too
boring since I managed to make it as pleasant as possible. At
first, I did take part in a limited number of YW activities but I
soon found thaet I did not have the time since I was taking night
classes at Northwestern U. I was interested in the integrastion
plan for nisei for a while but I gave it up as hopeless since the

-

nisei did not wish to coopemate with the YW program. I did go to
P g




a few young business women's club meetings but I scon lost inter-
est. I think that most of the nisei girls have too much to do to
be going to any of these club meetings. By the time they come home
and finish eating the evening is pretty well gone. Girls always
have a lot of personal things to do., I know my time was always
limited and my social activities were primarily in entertaining a
few choice friends,

"Most of my time was spent in the school »problems. I gradu-
ally lost interest in my m#meogreph job and I quit it last Septem-
ber as I felt that I could get & broader experience and make more
money some other place. I had been going to Northwestern Univer-
sity right along. Most of my classes were in the evening. There
was no trouble at all for me to enroll at that time., I was taking
two Math courses and the classes lasted from 7 to 9:30. There
were about 15 other students in my class and I got along well with
them. I took these llath courses in preparation for my chemistry
ma jor as I still had a lot of courses to make up. During the sum-
mer I only took one course. In the fall of 1943 I registered
ggain and I did not dream that there would be any difficulty.
snother nisei girl and I went to pay our bills after we had regis-
tered. The secretary there very casually said that we were Very
lucky to be enrolled. The nisei girl asked her why. I gave the
zirl a kick because I knew what was coming but she didn't cetch on.
The secretary then said, 'You're lucky because you are Chinese, If
you were Japanese you wouldn't be able to enroll here,! Then the
nisei girl said, 'But we are Japanese', Right then ny goose was
cooked. The seoretary was very surprised and she said that it had

been a mistake to allow us to register since the sechool was res-




tricted. She said we would have to drop out. I told her that I
had already attended the school for two semesters. Then the sec-
retary said that it was a Navy ruling and I would have to drop out.
I was quite discouraged but I kept on going to classes anyway. A
week later a notice was sent to me saying that the school was sorry
but the Navy policy forced them to ask me to drop out immediately.
I had an idea that this was coming so I phoned the Central "Y"
college immediately to ask if I could enroll there. I found that

they were giving the same courses and that it would even be cheap-

er for me to attend the 'Y' college.

"The next day I went to the 'Y' college and I added one more
course to my program. I was taking a lot of chemistry courses by
then and I was very interested in doing the lab work. I spent a
lot of time down there to do the experiments and I really think it
was worthwhile, I registered again this semester and I have two
lab courses now which I find most interesting. One of my problems
has been on whether I should graduate from there or not. I wanted
to get out of a biz university and this caused some conflict for a
while. I still don't know how much work I will have to do to grad-
uate as my credits have not arrived yet. It is impossible for me
to major in any of the fields I had at Cal because the Central 'Y!
dées not offer these ma jors. 4t U,C. I was majoring in P.E. and
minoring in English and Education but these courses are not given
here., That means that I will have to have two minors besides my
chemistry ma jor if I expect to graduate from Central 'Y', I rigure
that I would need at least 30 hour semesters yet. I have already
completed 8 units at Central 'V' and this senester I am taking 12

units in the evening. This means that my studies and class attend-




ance takes pretty much of my time since I am also working full
time. My only leisure time is during the week-ends,

"I still don't know for sure whether I will graduate from
Central 'Y' or not but I don't worry too much about it now. I do
want to get a B.S. degree instead of finishing up with an #.B. as
that will not do me very much good. I would like to be a chemist-
technician after I do some graduate work. I don't know where I
will go for this grsduate ftraining but that is still in the future.
My real ambition is to assist some cne in chemist research, I
don't know how mich longer I will have to go to school. I don't
think I'll ever quit entirely even if I have to study on my own.

My routine has been established so that I don't find it too diffi-
cult to do my homework.

"Another one of my ambitions is to do some general translation
work in chemical research. A chemical research librarian is a very
good field and I don't think that any nisei has ever gone into
that. For a while I thought of going up to the University of Wis-
consin to finish up my degree but I can't tell yet what I'm going
to do. I can't help but want to get my degree from a mame college
after going to U.C. for so long., Getting a degree from Central 'Y!

college doesn't have too much prestige to ht. However, it may not

make too much of a difference since I do plan to do some graduate

work eventually, That is about my prosent status in my educational
ambitions. I'm definitely going on with a chemistry major and I
think that I will be able to make something of it.

"After I quit my job at the YWCA last September, I went down

to the personnel department of MeClurg's Co. and applied for a

Job. I felt that I could get an easy job there immediately. My




brother had been working there and he said that even though a large
number of nisei were employed there, the company was large and i%
wouldn't be too noticeable. The company was near my apartment so
that I could save on carfare and it would be convenient to school
also since I could go to my classes right after work in a very few

minutes.

"I was also curious about 4cClurg's as I had heard so many

people talk about it, both bad and good. No one knew exactly how
many nisei were employed there. I had been looking for a lab job
for a few days before I went to MeClurg's but I found that there
were only a few ads in the paper for this type of work. I did not
g0 to any of the agencies which have helped nisei find jobs. I
felt that I was not any evacuee anyway so that I did not feel like
going to the WRA. I understood that this ageney was only for
people coming out of the camps anyway.

"When I went down to MeClurg's, the personnel manager told me
that he wouldn't put me in as an order picker like he did the rest
of the nisei girls who started there. He took my age into consi-
deration and since I was older and I had certain definite skills,
he thought that I could do a better type of work. He also took my
educational background into consideration. I did not care what
type of work I did, as long as it did not interfere with my school
plans, However, I was not able to do any heavy work as my back was
weak. I had had a back operation in July so that I could not do
any work thet would be a strain on me. The personnel mansger took
all of this into consideration and he finally gave me a job assist-

g a woman checking invoices., There were about 150 in the orffice

staff and the six nisei in the office were not noticeable at all.




Now there are sbout 10 nisei girls there in that particular office.
"] started working at 55 cents an hour and now I have worked
up to 65 cents an hour, I didn't care for the first job I had down
there becsuse it soon got boring and there was no responsiblity to
it., I didn't get along well with the Caucasian woman I worked with
so I thought I would quit after Xmas. Decause there was no res-
ponsibility to the work, I often went to work late and I had abo-
solutely no interest in it." (See C.K. Diary for her attitude at
that time. There are other scattered references to this indigidual

throughout the Diary and eventually this information will all be

pulled out and supplemented to this document,)

"I d4id not have to quit MeClurg's because another vacancy
opened up in the debis$s and credit department. I was offered the
job of taking care of the correspondence in this department and I
accepted it. Now I am working for the head buyer of the company
and I write out orders for him. I get over-time pay so I put in 4
hours a week extra, making it a 44-hour work week. The boss does
not want us to put any more extra hours than that and I wouldn't
care to do it anyway since I don't have the time.

"I make enough in my job to meet all of my present needs so
I am fairly well satisfied. However, I do& realize that it is
only a job. I have other definite aims so I don't mind too much.
I think I would feel quite differently if I had to do that job
permanently because you can only go so far in it. That is one of
the reasons why so many nisei come in and out of that place so
rapidly. The work itself is rather easy now and I think that the
working conditions are much better. I feel that I have some defi-

nite responsiblities so that I am not bored with my position.




Before, when I felt lazy in the mornings I didn't go to work. Now,
I feel that I have a definite Jjob to do with responsibllity to it
so I make a special effort to get there.

"I get along well with my boss and the other employees altho

bhe contacts are quite casual. My boss has a gery good attitude

toward the nisei. He doesn't{reat them any differatit from his

Caucasian émployees. I don't have any definite social contacts
with any of the workers sxcept a couple of nisei. I don't eat or
talk with anyone in particular among the office staff during the
lunch period. CSometimes I eat by myself and then spend the rest
of the noon hour reading. Occasionally I eat with one of the Cau-
casian members of the office staff.

"I really don't know how many nisei are employed at McClurg's
yet. There must be over a hundred of them but I don't see them too
often., MecClubg's is a wholesale household goods company and it
also handles baby supplies, leather goéds and books. The majority
of the nisei in the company work in the stock rooms, se I never
see them. They are located in the factory part of the company.
lThere is quite a large turnover among the nisei even though the
wages are about the same for this ungkilled work elsewhere, Mc-
Clurg's is not a defense factory so that they do not pay those
defense wages, I don't blame the nisei for quitting as they all
g0 in there for temporary reasons at first anyways. The company
can't offer the nisei fellows with definite skills very much more
in the way of jobs. Most of the nisei there are young rellows any-
way and they are definitely out for the money that they can earn
and spend. They all feel that they are going into the Army soon

anyway so that in the past few weeks quite a few of them have quit.




"For most of the nisei at MeClurg's, the company does not
offer too much of a future altho a few may eventually work up to
be a head checker for a department. The employer does not begrudge
the nisei who gquits to better himself, but they get sore when the
nisei don't do it in the proper manner. The only man who get
ahead in the company are usually the salesmen. 'The nisei just do
not get these Jjobs. Not many of the nisei intend to stay there
permanently anyway. It seems that the girls with skills have a
better opportunity. <There is one nisei girl there who is the best
billing typist in the company and she puts out about twice as many
orders as the Caucasian typist each day. The company has given her
a number of raises. HRecently she got an offer to teach at night
while working part of the day. It is a definite advance for her
and it has & future to it because she has made hersédf indispen-
sable. The majority of the other nisei do not have these skills
so that they continue to remain at the unskilled level and there is

no guarantee that they will remain there permanently since they

have to compete on an equal basis with many Caucasian people. This

will be particularly true when the deiense factories close down.
"Most of the nisei at MeClurg's are young kids and a lot of
them come out in gangs from the centers. <lhey know that they can
get a job any time at the company. After they get a little more
settled, they begin to look for other jobs as they hear rumors
about other nisei making fabulous salaries. They forget &hat they
don't have the skills and experience but they go out and try for
these jobs also since they are interested only in the salary.
Actually they do not think of the job in terms of a future. Work-

ing at MeClurg's is ohly good for the recommendations that one can




get. I know that a lot of them will lose their jobs after the war
if they stay on at McClurg's. Only a few of the more skilled will
be kept permanently. I think that the girls will have more chances
for advancement there =s there is less prejudice against nisei
girls on the whole,

"I don't know too much about the nisei in Chiecago, but I
think many of them are getting a chance to use the skills they have
learned for the first time. 4t the same time, they still have =a
lot to learn. One thing I don't like is when the nisei quit their
jobs without even giving,a notice. That is not a very nice thing
bo do and it hurts them personally., That is due, primsrily to
thelr inExperience in working. HHight now they can do this and get
other jobs, but I hate to think of what would happen to them if
they pulled such a trick when jobs are scarce.

"I don't intend to be in the same position at MeClurg's per-
manently. I guess most of the nisei are like me. However, I do
have my education as a goal and many of the nisei out here don't
have this ambition any more. It is a difficult situation for them
even if they don't realize it now, I think that most of them can
only go so far in a business and then they will be blocked., l!ost
of the jobs out here definitely will not satisfy those with a lot
of ambition and a desire to make & career out of their jobs. One
girl friend of mine who has a lot of ability sees this problem now

resent torn between the desire to join the %88-

M4

so that she is at

WACs or.stay on in her present job. ©She feels that if she could

make her job permanent, then it would be worth the time to stay
on.

"Under such a condition, it is not unnatural for the young




nisel coming out here to look around for a job that pays more.
HMost of the girls think in terns of working in a modern office if
workers
they are secretarial or clerical eff:ee., They are not too con-
cerned about their permanent life work so that a lot of them ars in
a rut. They figure that they will get married eventually so that
they won't be working at these jobs all of their lives. That is
why a great many of them are much more concerned about the effects
of the drasft on their marriage problem. 1 think that many of the
girls do not feel the job frustration as much as the fellows be-
cause of this reason. The fellows have to think in terms of e®»
permanent work in something in which they are interested and the
conditions are such that it looks a little hopeless at the present
time. That's why they feel that the ohly thing to work for is the
salary which they want to enjoy while they have the time,

"In spite of that, many of the boys and fellows I know seem %o
be satisfied with their job. This would not be a true picture of
all the nisel fellows since the ones I am spesking of are in pro-
fessional work of some type. These fellows see definite advance-
ment ahead and the job is more important to them than the salary
connected with it., bBut for the majority of the unkilled nisei,
the future does not look so promising as far as I can figure out.

The surprising thing is that most of them think only in terms of

making as much money as they can and spending it before they get in

the Army. This is a rather short-sighted way of looking at things
and 1f this is a true picture of a large majority of the nisei, I
am #fraid that they ars going to be very disillusioned later on.
lhey will continue to be restless because they have not established

themselves.




"There is one fellow I know who is batching with three other
niseli rellows. +hey pay $100 mea month for their flat and they
blow their large checks every month. 1his fellowe used %o save
some money each month but in the past couple of months he has de-
veloped a deveil-may-car attitude. I think this is the influence
of the draft announcement and his friends who #tend to be carefree,
they don't feel that it is worthwhile now to look too far inte the
Tuture as the draft is upon them and they couldn't achieve their
ambitions even if they wanted to. .

"It is true that life is always changing for all of us., It is
not only the nisei who have & had to make adjiustments to a new sort
of life. This is happening all over the country, but there are
certain peculiar problems atteehed to the nisei ad justments. I've
made ssveral changes myself and I still am not settled. Tousing
has been one of the big problems. In our apartment where we moved
in January, 1943, the landlady was afraid to take us at first.

She told the other tenants that we were Chinese. Later when the
other tenants found out that we were Nihonjin, one lady said it was

okay because we were different as she knew that we were educated.

The landlady was gquite relieved that there was a favorable attitude

toward us. However, she was an Austrian and she did wWorry very
much about our being in that building. There was one person who
objected to us but I don't know who it was. At any rate, some FBI
agent did eheck up on us at one time according to our landlady,

=

h, 1943, a new Austrian landlady came in to manege

-

"TAround Mare
the building. She and her husband were fairly decent people. I
used to have long talks with her and she told me all about her life

in Vienna. ©She was a well-educated woman. At thet time we were
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paying $17 a week rent. When my sister came out from camp, she

stayed with us for a while and then she took a downstairs apart-
ment in the same building with two other nisei girls. Yosh's
brother was also staying with us for a short time. When my

vounger brother came out of camp we did not have any room for him
so that he stayed with another young nisei fellow down the street
and just ate with us. There was one ITalian fellow who started to
complain about all the Japs around all the time. Finally our land-
lord began to be afraid. <=he thought that she would lose her other
tenants.

"There were certain changes in my personal plans about that
time so that I decided to move out. I didn't want to keep up the
big place by myself as Yosh's brother had left town and my younger
brother went to live with my other brother on the northside, Yosh's
brother left because he couldn't get into any of the decent medical
schools around here so he went to Ann Arbor. I finally decided to
20 on my own. I saw & place on Dearborn place one day o I deci=-
ded to move in since there was no other nisei in the building. The
place rented for $6.80 a week and that was within my budget so I
took 1it. There was a clause in the lease that forbid renting this
apartment to Filipinos or Chinese but notion was mentione
Japanese so I got in. Later on, another nisei girl (CE-24) moved
in. My apartment is large enough so my purposes. I am comfortable
enough even though it is a basement apartment, I get enough light
and the kitchen is large enough for my purposes. I don't have a
privete bath and that is one disadvantage. However, it is almost

-

impossible for me to get & larger apartment with a prixate beth

=

with the income I have since my school is quite an expense.




. "I'd rather not discuss about my personal life with Yosh since
1 heve put that out of my miAd. Yosh decided to go down to Mar-
shall, Illinois around September. He was only supposed to be gone
for two weeks but things got very complicated and he has never come
back. He is still down there in some secret defense work and it is
all mixed up. He wrbdte and said he's rather live alone go thad
there is a temtative separation. He lives at the Hyde Park YMCA
on the soutthside so that he has sort of dropped out of the
picture. (There was some difficulty about him running around with
a Caucasisn woman but details are unknown at the present time,)

"At first I was against all nisei society but lately I have

become indifferent to the whole thing. A4 year ago there were not

many nisei out here and it was easy to avoid them. Zven at that

time I saw that the nisei didn't seem to want to integrate them-
selves. I felt that if they didn't want to do it, 1t was no use in
trying to push integration. They were quite unsettled for the first
slx months they were out here as they had to adjust themselves to
their work and it took them quite a while to settle down, The di-
rection now has been more and more toward a nisei society. Defi-
nite nisei cliques do exist and it is extremely difficult for any’
nisei to prevent being pulled into it if he has relatives and for-
mer friends out here. In my own case, I have noticed that I tend
Tto go toward the limited group I know also. I am often invited out
by Caucasian people at the *'Y' but I don't make the effort because
I say that I don't have the time. The limited time that I do have
is spent in nisei groups. In my own case, the pull has been rather
gradusl. I was the first of my family out here. Then my brother

and his wife came out, and they did not go on to Detroit as they had




planned. Then my sister-ih-law's brother got married. In this
way, the family clan has gradually gathered so that now I have
quite a Tew direct and indirect relatives out here. (She is speak=-
ing of the group whiech C.K. is studying.)

"The cliques seem to be centered around the former communities
where the nisei lived and I have a touch with many of them but I
don't belong to any one definitely. I know of a Seattle group,

Los Angeles group, church group, YWCA group, San Diego group, Bay
District groupp University of California group, Stockton group and
Pasadena group. There are many others and they seem to be getting
interwoven grzdually. They are beginning to mingle in more and
more and soon there will be a closely knit seei: nisei society out
here which may take in all of thece group. It is centered lsrgely
around the dances. I don't care to identify myself in any of these
groups and I see how difficult. i$ 1is to remain out of it. I look
upon the thinge as an individual matter and I can take it or leave.
I also forgot to mention a Montena group which I knew formerly. It

seems that all of these groups are shifting arcund and they will

not become established as definite cligques unless there is a common

interest.

"That is about how my life is at present. I do not participate
in any definite group outside of my family members and their
friends. I do not care for political activities very much and I
have not joined any Caucasian clubs. I don't think too mueh about
the war. It isn't because I am indifferent to it. I think that
1t is more because the war seems to be sort of impersonal to me. I
Just accept democracy and take it for granted. I know that I am an

American in spite of my Japanese ancestry and I don't go around
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arguing about it, I don t think that I am in any way connected

with Japan, That is a rather silly idea. At the same time I don't
believe in going around and waving the flag., I think that it is
just as harmful for the nisei to get into a group to do things like
donatgéng blood to the Eed Cross as it is for them to live in a
Japanese community. It will only be misunderstood and people will
get more of an impression that before that they are American Japs
and the emphasis will be on the Japs, I just want to live alone in
peace, I would not like to see a Japanese community developing out
here but I don't want to become involved in this whole issue as I
would only be getting myself all disturbed. I lived a fairly sa-
tisfactory life and I think that I am working towards my goal even
though I have not reached them yet. I haven't thought in terms of
my family since I am meore or less cut myself off from them and be-
come independent. However, if the rest of my family does come out
here and they need help, I mostly certainly will do my share. I
feel that I should not worry about these things until the time
comes, I have an idea that most of the nisei are restless because
they are not at peace within themselves. That is why so many of
them jump around from city to ecity. <They will not become adjusted
ever until they have adjusted their personalities. I suppose that
this may be due to their youth and their inability to broaden their
perspective.

"My life is not too restless now., I find plenty of things to
do to keep me busy and I think that 1 am developing myself at the
same time., Whenever I do have leisure time, I do some reading, I
have always been interested in good books and I read whenever I

have the chance. I don't entertain other nisei too much. I feel




that the few friends I have are close friends. I don't believe in
getting a lerge number of nisei to surround you because most of

them are not real friends and they would leave you Tlat when an

emergency came up., I don't dislike the nisei but I find that T

don't have too much in common with the majority of them. I like the
friends that I have and it doesn't matter what color of skin they
have. OCometimes I worry about what is going to happen in the future
to the nisei, but it is an endless sort of thing and I don't spend
too much time thinking about it since I am busy enough as it is.

I guess I was just made to be easy going and to take things in my
stride and not build up too much of a dream which is impossible to
athieve. I feel that if I can gain a certain amount of heppiness
out of life, my life will have been worthwhile. I haven't reached
all of my goals and aspirations yet and that is something that I

am working towards at the present time."™ (See C,K, Diary for

other attifudes.)




